
 

4500 SW Research Way 

Corvallis, OR 97333-1192 

 (541) 766-6819 

 

Benton County will make reasonable accommodations for all alterable participants. Please notify 
Amanda.Makepeace@bentoncounty.gov 72 hours before the meeting. All Planning Commission meetings 
are recorded and retained as required by ORS 166-200-0235. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

AGENDA 
Benton County Planning Commission 

Work Session  
January 21, 2025 

6:00-8:00 P.M.  
Kalapuya Building, 4500 SW Research Way, Corvallis 

1st floor Meeting Room 
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/82408116441?pwd=a1Z6cVg4N2wvUTJIRU4wV25OaEdYQT09 

Meeting ID: 824 0811 6441 

Passcode: 668580 

 

 
 

I. CALL TO ORDER | ROLL CALL               Chair Fowler 

II. MINUTES                                                                                                            Chair Fowler 

A. APPROVE MINUTES FROM DECEMBER 3, 2024 JOINT MEETING WITH CITY OF 
CORVALLIS 

III. ITEM          

A. OFFICER ELECTIONS                                        Chair Fowler 

B. SUBCOMMITTEE DIALOG                                 Chair Fowler    

C. ANNUAL GOAL SETTING      Chair Fowler                   

IV. PLANNING COMMISSIONER | STAFF UPDATES    Chair Fowler 

V. ADJOURN                                               Chair Fowler 

mailto:Amanda.Makepeace@bentoncounty.gov
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/82408116441?pwd=a1Z6cVg4N2wvUTJIRU4wV25OaEdYQT09


 

 
 

 

 

MINUTES 
Joint Planning Commission 

Benton County and City of Corvallis 
December 3, 2024 

 
I. CALL TO ORDER | ROLL CALL                
Benton County Planning Commission Chair Fowler called the meeting to order at 6:05 P.M. The 
meeting was open to the public virtually via a published Zoom link.  Chair Fowler confirmed a full 
quorum of both Commissions.  
 
Benton County Planning Commissioners  City of Corvallis Planning Commissioners 
Nick Fowler, Chair  Tanya Laird, Chair 

Greg Hamann, Vice Chair (virtual)  Carolyn Mayers, Vice Chair 

Catherine Biscoe  Jared Clark 

Sara Cash  Roberta Smith 

Ed Fulford  Tony Cadena 

Evelyn Lee   

Andrew Struthers   

John Wilson   

Benton County Staff  City of Corvallis Staff 

Petra Schuetz, Interim Director and Planning Official  Rian Amiton, Senior Planner 

Shannon Bush, Program Coordinator  Sarah Johnson, Senior Planner 

Amanda Makepeace, Recorder   

 
II. BENTON COUNTY MINUTES                                                                                   
Chair Fowler moved the approval of the Minutes from November 19, 2024, to the end of the meeting. 
(@02:13:08) Wilson moved to approve the Minutes as amended; Fulford seconded. The motion passed, 8-0.  
 
III. *PUBLIC HEARING | ZONE CHANGE AND COMPREHENSIVE PLAN MAP AMENDMENT  

5840 NW HIGHWAY 99W, CORVALLIS | LOW DENSITY RESIDENTIAL TO MIXED  
USE COMMERCIAL IN URBAN GROWTH BOUNDARY (@00:05:12)     

Amiton gave a presentation and Lewis provided additional information. David Dodson of Willamette Valley 
Planning represented applicants Vernon & Priscilla Esplin. There was no public testimony in favor of or 
opposed to the zone change, and no testimony from a representative of any other governmental body. 
 
Clark moved that the City of Corvallis Planning Commission forward a recommendation 
to Corvallis City Council to approve the requested Comprehensive Plan Amendment (CPA-2023-02). This 
request is described and discussed in Attachment PC-A of the staff report to both Planning Commissions. The 
motion is based upon the staff recommendations to the Planning Commissions, and reasons articulated by 
the City of Corvallis Planning Commission in its deliberations; Mayers seconded. The motion passed, 5-0. 
(@1:11:30) 

Page 2 of 35



 

  

Page 2 of 2 

 

 
Struthers moved that the Benton County Planning Commission forward a recommendation 
to Corvallis City Council to approve the requested Comprehensive Plan Amendment (CPA-2023-02). This 
request is described and discussed in Attachment PC-A of the staff report to both Planning Commissions. The 
motion is based upon the staff recommendations to the Planning Commissions, and reasons articulated by 
the Benton County Planning Commission in its deliberations; Hamann and Fulford seconded. The motion 
passed, 8-0. (@01:12:57) 
 
Wilson moved to recommend approval of the zoning map amendment requested in Benton County 
Planning File LU-24-006 based on the findings and conclusions contained in the staff report; Biscoe 
seconded. The motion passed, 8-0. (@01:14:14) The recommendation will be forwarded to the Benton 
County Board of Commissioners. 
 

*Exhibit 1: Applicant Statement - Vernon & Priscilla Esplin - LU-24-006 
*Exhibit 2: PC Staff Presentation – Amiton, Corvallis 
 
IV. *SOUTH CORVALLIS AREA PLAN PROJECT (@01:15:30) 
No public comment was taken at this time. Johnson provided an overview of the plan developed from 
the 2016 Imagine Corvallis 2040 vision aligned with the city’s comprehensive plan, an inventory of 
buildable lands, the 2019 Strategic Operational Plan, and previous community input. House Bill 1537 
allows for development of affordable housing on any type of zoned land and the elimination of 
minimum parking requirements. Corvallis is working to refresh zoning to more accurately reflect the 
current community. In early 2025, the Planning Advisory Work Group and Technical Advisory 
Committee (TAC) will engage with community members, interested parties, and partner organizations 
to consider transportation, utilities, and stormwater data to make further refinements. Webster Slater 
of Benton County will liaise with the TAC. The public adoption process will include city councilors, 
county commissioners, land use cases, and master plan amendments.  Johnson explained the 
resources and questionnaire available on the city’s website.  
 

   *Exhibit 3: Joint PC Project Update – Johnson, Corvallis 
 

V. BENTON COUNTY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN | DEVELOPMENT CODE UPDATE (@01:55:43)  
Bush spoke about the plan structure, tasks, and engagement with the community. Benton County’s 
internal Health in All Actions Committee advised on high-priority populations. A Comprehensive Plan 
Advisory Group will be formed and begin meeting in spring 2025. Code-level policy changes cannot be 
implemented until the comprehensive plan is complete. An audit, code review, and update will be 
completed then move to refinements, review, and adoption for completion by June 2025.Two 
subcommittees have been formed; Fulford will lead regional housing and Hamann and Struthers will 
lead matters of code. 

 
VI. ADJOURN                                                
Chair Fowler adjourned the meeting at 8:30 P.M. 

 

Page 3 of 35



Exhibit 1Page 4 of 35



VP Comprehensive Plan Amendment 
(CPA-2023-02)

City of Corvallis Planning Commission / Benton County Planning Commission Joint Public Hearing
December 3, 2024

Exhibit 2Page 5 of 35



Presentation Title
Presentation Title

Agenda
o Application and site overview
o Review process and criteria 
o Staff evaluation and recommendation

2 |  

Page 6 of 35



CPA Overview

3 |  

: 5840 NW Highway 99W

: Change the Comprehensive Plan Map designation from 
Low Density Residential to Mixed Use Commercial

Page 7 of 35



Site Overview

4 |  

Page 8 of 35



Corvallis Urban Fringe Management 
Agreement (CUFMA) – Attachment PC-B
o The 1990 CUFMA establishes the process and criteria for CPA applications in the 

Urban Fringe

o Process for quasi-judicial CPA applications: 
o Joint public hearing with the Corvallis and Benton County Planning 

Commissions
o PCs can deliberate together or separately, and then make 

recommendations to their respective governing bodies
o Final decision made after a joint public hearing with the Corvallis City 

Council and Benton County Board of Commissioners

5 |  

Page 9 of 35



Corvallis Urban Fringe Management 
Agreement (CUFMA)
o Review Criteria for CPA applications:

o “…utilize the provisions of [the CUFMA], the Corvallis Comprehensive 
Plan, as amended, and the Benton County Comprehensive Plan, as 
amended…”
o CUFMA: No specific review criteria included
o Corvallis Land Development Code: 

o Section 2.1.30.06 – Review Criteria for the Majority of Comprehensive Plan 
Amendments

o Incorporates Corvallis Comprehensive Plan policies
o Benton County Comprehensive Plan

o References the “Benton County Comprehensive Plan for the Urban Fringe,” 
which effectively incorporates applicable Corvallis Comprehensive Plan 
policies (no need for separate review)

6 |  

Page 10 of 35



LDC Review Criteria – Section 2.1.30.06
o Statewide Planning Goals

o Comprehensive Plan Policies

o Demonstrated need for the change

o Advantages outweigh the disadvantages

o Change is a desirable means for meeting the public need

o Compatibility criteria

o OAR 660-012-0060  (Transportation Planning Rule)

7 |  

Page 11 of 35



Statewide Planning Goals
Goal 1 – Citizen Involvement

o DLCD Notice of Proposed Amendment

o Pre-Notification 

o Public Hearing Notice

Goal 2 – Land Use Planning

o Established process for reviewing CPA requests (LDC and CUFMA)

Goal 9 – Economic Development

o Per the 2016 Buildable Lands Inventory (BLI), there is a deficit of MUC land in the UGB

Goal 10 – Housing

o Per the BLI, there is a surplus of LDR land in the UGB

8 |  

Page 12 of 35



Comprehensive Plan Policies
CPP 3.2.7 – Evaluate the compatibility of land uses

o Compatibility factors are incorporated into review criteria

CPP 8.2.1 and CPP 8.2.3 – Support a range of employment uses

o Change sanctions an existing use, and provides opportunities for additional commercial uses

CPP 8.10.1 – Evaluate the need for commercial activities

o Incorporated into the review criteria addressing the public need for the change, advantages/disadvantages, and the 
change as a desirable means

CPP 8.10.2 – Preserve existing commercial activities

o Change will help prevent the decline of an existing commercial use

CPP 9.2.5 – Neighborhood characteristics

o Future development will comply with development standards that implement this policy

9 |  

Page 13 of 35



Demonstrated Need for the Change
2016 Buildable Lands Inventory (BLI) evaluated the need for various land use types

Over the 20-year planning period (to 2036), the BLI found: 

o A deficit of 54 acres of Mixed Use Commercial (MUC) land
o This deficit has not been addressed

o A surplus of 2,976 units worth of Low Density Residential (LDR) land
o With this change, added to previous conversions of LDR, there will still be a 

surplus of over 2,900 units worth of LDR land

In summary, there is an abundant supply of LDR and a deficit of MUC

10 |  

Page 14 of 35



Advantages Outweigh the Disadvantages; 
Change is a Desirable Means of Meeting the 
Public Need
The request addresses a deficit of MUC without threatening to cause a deficit of other 
land use categories

The subject site:

o Has a long history of being used for commercial activities

o Has frontage only on Hwy 99W, an arterial highway

o Abuts existing MUC land to the south, extending to a major signalized intersection

o Is entirely within a Major Neighborhood Center circle on the Comprehensive Plan Map
o Major Neighborhood Center: “A mixed use commercial center design with a 

pedestrian orientation which serves the general community and/or 
surrounding neighborhood. Typically located along major arterial roadways.”

11 |  

Page 15 of 35



Compatibility Criteria

12 |  

Page 16 of 35



OAR 660-012-0060 
(Transportation Planning Rule)
Per the Traffic Impact Study, the increase in trips falls below the threshold for requiring a 
TPR analysis. This will be reevaluated if/when the property is subject to an annexation 
application.

13 |  

Page 17 of 35



Overall Staff Conclusions on the CPA 
Request

o The request complies with applicable Statewide Planning Goals, Corvallis 
Comprehensive Plan Policies, and Benton County Comprehensive Plan provisions

o There is an abundance of LDR land and shortage of MUC land

o The subject site provides a suitable location for development consistent with MUC

o All approval criteria are satisfied

o Benton County staff also supports the request (Attachment PC-C)

o Staff recommends the Commissions forward recommendations to approve the 
request

14 |  

Page 18 of 35



South Corvallis 
Area Planning 
Project
Joint County & City Planning 
Commission Meeting
December 3, 2024

Exhibit 3
Page 19 of 35



Page 20 of 35



   

Page 21 of 35



Community Outreach
• 2017 Community Land Use Questionnaire

• Separated into Study Areas throughout the City

• 2020 Project Introduction Questionnaire
• In-person kick off event February 28, 2020
• Online Storymap and questionnaire on Community Connections 2020/2021

• 2022 Community Land Use Questionnaire
• Separated into Study Areas throughout the City
• Findings compared to 2017

• 2023-2024 Departmental Advisory Workgroup & Technical Advisory Committee 
meetings to discuss findings and prepare first proposed land use scenario

• 2024 South Corvallis Area Plan Land Use Scenario 1 and Transportation Options 
Developed

• Webpage rollout November 2024
• Storymap of potential land use and transportation changes
• Survey to collect responses to Scenario 1
• Open House event November 21, 2024

• 2025 Community Engagement and Plan Refinement

4 |  

Page 22 of 35



Other Considerations

5 |  

Page 23 of 35



Existing: 
• Commercial

• Industrial

• Residential

• Undeveloped

Proposed:
• Central Business (Commercial)

• Commercial Mixed Use

• Mixed Use Residential

6 |  

Page 24 of 35



Existing: 
• Commercial

• Industrial

• Residential

• Undeveloped

Proposed:
• Commercial Mixed Use

• Mixed Use Residential

• Various Density Residential

• Industrial

7 |  

Page 25 of 35



Existing: 
• Various Industrial on west side

• Residential w/commercial planned on 
east side

• Undeveloped

Proposed:
• Simplified Industrial on west side

• Commercial Mixed Use

• Residential Mixed Use

• Various Density Residential

8 |  

Page 26 of 35



9 |  

Page 27 of 35



10 |  

Page 28 of 35



11 |  

Page 29 of 35



Community Participation

12 |  

Page 30 of 35



Community Participation

13 |  

Page 31 of 35



Community Participation

14 |  

Page 32 of 35



Project Process

15 |  

o City and County Planning Commissions
o City Council and County Commissioners
o Subsequent land use cases and Master Plan amendments

Page 33 of 35



Thank you!

Questions?

Page 34 of 35



Planning Commission Priorities (discussion draft)

• Planning Commissioner Training & Capacity Building
• County-wide Communication
• Transportation
• Recreation Related Issues
• Wildfire/Fire Safety

• Prevention, Response, & Resilience
• Water Availability and Quality
• Data Collection, Management & Use
• Telecommunications Planning
• Housing Affordability and Homelessness
• Solid Waste Management

Page 35 of 35


	01.21.25 Planning Commission Agenda
	12.03.24 PC Joint Meeting - DRAFT Minutes with 3 Exhibits
	Exhibit 1 - 12.3.24 Applicant Statement - Vernon & Priscilla Esplin - LU-24-006
	Exhibit 2 - City of Corvallis VP Comprehensive Plan Amendment
	Exhibit 3 - South Corvallis Area Planning Project

	Planning Commission Priorities - Draft Discussion



